In The Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC00-519

LEONARD McKINNEY,

Petitioner/Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent/Appellee.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL MERIT BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit

FRED PARKER BINGHAM II Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0869058

301 South Monroe Street, Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 386-1775

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-519

LEONARD McKINNEY,	
Petitioner/Appellant,	
v.	
THE STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Respondent/Appellee.	
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

1. <u>History of the Proceedings</u>

Having been arrested on January 10, 1998 [R. 1], Mr. McKinney was charged by Information on January 30, 1998, with burglary of an occupied conveyance, unarmed robbery, and burglary of an occupied structure, all offenses allegedly occurring on January 8, 1998 [R. 8-9].

On February 3, 1998, the state filed notices of intent to classify the defendant as a prison releasee reoffender [R. 10], as a habitual felony offender [R. 12], and as a violent career criminal [R. 14].

On May 20, 1998, a jury rendered verdicts finding Mr. McKinney guilty of burglary to a conveyance as charged in Count I; robbery as charged in Count II; and burglary to a structure as charged in Count III, with further specific findings that the structure was a dwelling and that the structure was occupied [R. 31-33].

On June 10, 1998, the defendant filed a motion to declare § 775.082(8), the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act enacted effective May 30, 1997, to be unconstitutional for violation of the single subject requirement; for violation of separation of powers, due process, equal protection, cruel and/or unusual punishment, double jeopardy, and vagueness [R. 36-57]. The motion was denied by written order rendered on June 10, 1998 [R. 58].

A sentencing guidelines scoresheet resulted in 374 total sentence points, with a median presumptive sentence of 346 state prison months, and a discretionary sentencing range of 259.5 to 432.5 prison months [R. 94-95].

On June 10, 1998, the court rendered a judgment adjudicating Mr. McKinney guilty of: Count I — burglary to an occupied conveyance, a violation of § 810.02(3)-3, Fla. Stat., a second degree felony; Count II — unarmed robbery, in violation of § 812.13(2)(c), a second degree felony; and Count III — burglary to an occupied dwelling, in violation of § 810.02(3)(a), a second degree felony. The court imposed sentences on Mr. McKinney of 30 years imprisonment as a habitual felony offender on Count I; 37 years imprisonment on Count II as a violent career criminal, concurrent with Count I; and 15 years as a prison releasee reoffender, consecutive to Counts I and II. In the judgment, the court granted credit for 152 days in custody on Counts I and II, with credit for zero (0) days for time in custody on Count III. On Count II, the court also imposed a minimum sentence of 30 years on the 37 year concurrent violent career criminal sentence [R. 82-89].

The court further rendered a separate written "Sentence as a Prison Releasee Reoffender and a Habitual Felony Offender and a Violent Career Criminal." [R. 90-93]

The court determined that Mr. McKinney was insolvent for the purpose of appeal and appointed the public defender as counsel [R. 102].

On June 25, 1998, the defendant filed a timely Notice of Appeal [R. 103].

On appeal, Mr. McKinney raised multiple issues: (1) Sufficiency of evidence to sustain a conviction of robbery; (2) Constitutionality of the Prison Releasee Reoffender Statute; (3) Error in imposing the PRR sentence on Count III consecutive to the other sentences; and (4) Fundamental error in failing to grant credit for time served on Count III.

The court rendered it opinion on March 1, 2000, affirming per curium, and certifying the same question certified in Woods v. State, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. granted, 740 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1999). *McKinney v. State*, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D546 (Fla. 1st DCA March 1, 2000).

Petitioner filed a timely Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court.

2. Statement of the Facts

Sentencing Proceedings

On June 5, 1998, the court conducted the first phase of sentencing. It denied the defendant's motion for new trial [R. 135].

The state announced that as to a prison releasee reoffender, it was relying on the defendant's prior conviction for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and asserted that as to Count I, burglary of an occupied conveyance, that he be sentenced as a habitual felony offender on that count. As to Count II, robbery, that he be sentenced as a violent career criminal. And as to Count III, burglary of an occupied dwelling, he be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender. [R. 130].

The court noted that as to Count III, as a PRR, it would have to give him 15 years, no more and no less [R. 131].

The state stated it relied on a prior conviction for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon on July 11, 1997, in Case No. 88-4101 CFA, that was within 3 years of the present offense. [R. 131]. The state asserted that McKinney was convicted on that case on July 11, 1997, although it was an 1988 case [R. 132]. The prosecutor asserted McKinney was released on December 30th or 31st of 1997 on this conviction, and the current crimes occurred on January 8th, 1998.¹ [R. 133]. The next was a conviction of robbery on February 13, 1989, Case No. 88-10731 CF. The next was burglary with assault on January 7, 1980, Case No. 79-6297 CF. The last was burglary on February 13, 1989, Case No. 88-10730 CF.² All convictions were in Duval County. [R. 135].

The state also asserted the court must impose a 30 year minimum mandatory

¹The state submitted no documentary proof or evidence to establish the date of release from prison on this conviction, however.

²It should be noted that the sentences in Case Nos. 88-10730 and 88-10731, for burglary and robbery respectively, were apparently imposed in a single sentencing proceeding on February 13, 1989.

sentence as a violent career criminal on Count II [R. 139]. The state requested that the sentence on Count III be imposed consecutively because it was not the same episode [R. 140].³

On June 10th, 1998, the court again addressed sentencing. Michell Royal, without object, was accepted as an expert latent fingerprint examiner [R. 157]. He identified Exhibit 1 as a fingerprint card of Mr. McKinney taken on June 8, 1998, whom it identified in the courtroom. [R. 158; 160]. With regard to Exhibits 2, 3, 4, and 5 [judgments and sentences], he examined and compared the exhibits and concluded that the prints were identical to those on Exhibit 1, those of Mr. McKinney. [R. 160]. The court found the convictions to be those of Mr. McKinney [R. 162].

The defendant moved to declare § 775.082(8) unconstitutional, which the court denied [R. 163].

Defense counsel objected to imposition of a consecutive sentence on Count III, arguing that the offenses were in close proximity and close time frame. The court ruled it could legally impose a consecutive sentence on Count III because it was a separate place, separate time, and separate victim, although the times and distances were fairly close. [R. 166].

³The state announced that it also had two restitution orders. Defense counsel stated he had no objection and that they waived a hearing on restitution. [R. 142].

The court found that it was necessary for the protection of the public that Mr. McKinney be classified as a habitual felony offender, as a violent career criminal and as a prison releasee reoffender [R. 192].

On Count I, the court adjudicated Mr. McKinney guilty of burglary of an occupied conveyance and sentenced him to 30 years as a habitual felony offender [R. 192].

On Count II, the court adjudicated him guilty of robbery and sentenced him to 37 years imprisonment as a violent career criminal without possibility of release for at least 30 years. [R. 193].

On Count III, the court adjudicated him guilty of burglary of a dwelling and sentenced him to 15 years as a prison releasee reoffender, to be served consecutively to Counts I and II, which were concurrent, a 52 year total sentence without possibility of release for at least 45 years. [R. 193].

The court stated that the defendant would get full credit for time served, which the clerk indicated was 152 days [R. 193-94].

The court appointed the public defender for the purpose of appeal [R. 194].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

ISSUE I — The PRR Act violates the separation of governmental powers commanded by Art. II, §3, Fla. Const. In granting the power to apply the enhanced sentencing provisions to prosecutors, and through prosecutors to victims of crime, the Legislature has usurped the power to impose criminal sentences constitutionally vested in the judiciary. The Act also offends constitutional protections against legislative logrolling, against cruel and/or unusual punishment, against impermissibly vague legislation, to due process and equal protection of the law, and against an ex post facto application of the law. However, if this court determines that the trial court retains discretion to impose a sentence under the subsection on those who qualify, the Act may withstand constitutional scrutiny.

ISSUE II — If the court finds that sentencing under the Act is within the discretion of the trial court, then petitioner's sentence should be vacated and the case remanded for the trial court to exercise that discretion. The judge stated he had no discretion not to sentence petitioner under the Act. The Second and Fourth Districts have held that it is not mandatory.

ISSUE III — The trial court committed fundamental error in failing to grant credit for time served on Count III, resulting in the imposition of an illegal sentence under *State v. Mancino*.

ARGUMENTS

ISSUE I — AS CONSTRUED IN WOODS V. STATE, THE PRR ACT DELEGATES JUDICIAL SENTENCING POWER TO THE STATE ATTORNEY, IN VIOLATION OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND ALSO VIOLATES SEVERAL OTHER CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS.

THE CERTIFIED QUESTION

Art. II, §3, Fla. Const., divides the powers of state government into legislative, executive, and judicial branches and says that "No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein". The original PRR Act, as interpreted by the district court in *Woods v. State*, 740 so. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), review granted, 740 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1999), violates that provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the state attorney as an official of the executive branch.

The PRR Act, originally codified as § 775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (now amended and designated as § 775.082(9), Fla. Stat. (1999)) included in its original text the following relevant portions:

(a)1. "Prison releasee reoffender" means any defendant who commits, or attempts to commit:

[specified or described violent felonies]

within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor.

2. If the state attorney determines that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in subparagraph 1., the state attorney may seek to have the court sentence the defendant as a prison releasee reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison releasee reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eligible for sentencing under the sentencing guidelines and must be sentenced as follows:

[mandatory terms depending on degree of felony] (Emphasis added).

The following portion of the Act describes the criteria for exempting persons from the otherwise mandatory sentence:

- (d)1. It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless any of the following circumstances exist:
- a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;
 - b. The testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained;
- c. The victim does not want the offender to receive the mandatory prison sentence and provides a written statement to that effect; or
- <u>d. Other extenuating circumstances exist which preclude the just prosecution of the offender.</u>

(Emphasis added).

The state attorney has the discretion (may seek) to invoke the sentencing sanctions by evaluating subjective criteria; if sought by the prosecutor, the court is required to (must) impose the maximum sentence. The rejection of statutory exceptions by the prosecutor divests the trial judge of any sentencing discretion. This unique delegation of discretion to the executive branch — displacing the sentencing power inherently vested in the judicial branch — conflicts with separation of powers because, as will be shown, when sentencing discretion is statutorily authorized, the judiciary must have at least a share of that discretion.

The Act was upheld against a separation of powers challenge in Woods because "Decisions whether and how to prosecute one accused of a crime and whether to seek enhanced punishment pursuant to law rest within the sphere of responsibility relegated to the executive, and the state attorneys possess complete discretion with regard thereto."

Since Florida's constitution expressly limits persons belonging to one branch from exercising any powers of another branch, see Askew v. Cross Key Waterways, 372 So. 2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978), the question certified first requires interpretation of what powers the Act allocates or denies to which branch.

The Woods court found no ambiguity requiring interpretation, saying "the legislature's rather clearly expressed intent was to remove substantially all

enhanced sentencing pursuant to the Act and proves the defendant's eligibility."

Further, the district court held that the discretion afforded by subparagraph (8)(d)1. "was intended to extend only to the prosecutor, and not to the trial court."

Ibid.

The power at issue is choosing among sentencing options. The district court acknowledged that in Florida "the plenary power to prescribe the punishment for criminal offenses lies with the legislature, not the courts." Ibid. That analysis is accurate but incomplete because the legislature's plenary power to prescribe punishment disables not only the courts, but the executive as well. Therein lies the flaw in the Act.

To clarify the argument here, it is not that the legislature is prohibited from enacting a mandatory or minimum mandatory sentence. Rather the argument is that the legislature cannot delegate to the state attorney, through vague standards, the discretion to choose both the charge and the penalty and thereby prohibit the court from performing its inherent judicial function of imposing sentence.

Obviously the legislature may lawfully enact mandatory sentences. E.g., Owens v. State, 316 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1975) (Upholding minimum mandatory 25 year sentence for capital felony); State v. Sesler, 386 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA

1980) (Legislature was authorized to enact 3 year mandatory minimum for possession of firearm).

By the same token, there is no dispute that the state attorney enjoys virtually unlimited and unreviewable discretion to make charging decisions. State v. Bloom, 497 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1986) (Under Art. II, Sec. 3, Fla. Const., the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility; a court has no authority to hold pretrial that a capital case does not qualify for the death penalty); Young v. State, 699 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1997)("[T]he decision to prosecute a defendant as an habitual offender is a prosecutorial function to be initiated at the prosecutor's discretion and not by the court."); State v. Jogan, 388 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980)(The decision to prosecute or nolle pros pre-trial is vested solely in the state attorney).

However, the power to impose sentence belongs to the judicial branch. "[J]udges have traditionally had the discretion to impose any sentences within the maximum or minimum limits prescribed by the legislature." See, Smith v. State, 537 So. 2d 982, 985, 986 (Fla. 1989). Directly or by implication, Florida courts have held that sentencing discretion within limits set by law is a judicial function that cannot be wholly delegated to the executive branch.

In State v. Benitez, 395 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 1981), this Court reviewed a drug trafficking statute providing severe mandatory minimum sentences but with an

escape valve permitting the court to reduce or suspend a sentence if the state attorney initiated a request for leniency based on the defendant's cooperation with law enforcement. The defendants contended that the law "usurps the sentencing function from the judiciary and assigns it to the executive branch, since [its] benefits . . . are triggered by the initiative of the state attorney." Id. at 519. Rejecting that argument and finding the statute did not encroach on judicial power this Court relied on the fact that the ultimate sentencing decision was still in the hands of the judge. This Court assumed, therefore, that had the statute divested the court of the "final discretion" to impose sentence it would have violated separation of powers, an implicit recognition that sentencing is an inherent function of the courts.

This Court made an identical assumption when the habitual offender law was attacked on separation of powers grounds in Seabrook v. State, 629 So. 2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1993), saying that the trial judge had the discretion not to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender.

The Third DCA held the same view regarding the mandatory sentencing provisions of the violent career criminal act, saying that it did not violate separation of powers because the trial judge retained discretion to find that such sentencing was not necessary for protection of the public. State v. Meyers, 708 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). In the same vein, the First DCA said in London v. State, 623 So.

2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), that "[a]lthough the state attorney may suggest that a defendant be classified as a habitual offender, only the judiciary decides whether to classify and sentence the defendant as a habitual offender."

The foundation for judicial, as opposed to executive, discretion in sentencing was well described by Justice Scalia, albeit in a dissenting opinion:

Trial judges could be given the power to determine what factors justify a greater or lesser sentence within the statutorily prescribed limits because that was ancillary to their exercise of the judicial power of pronouncing sentence upon individual defendants. (Emphasis added).

Mistretta v. United States, 488 U.S. 361, 417-418 (1989) (Scalia, J., dissenting).

By passing the Act the legislature crossed the line dividing the executive from the judiciary. By virtue of the discretion improperly given to the state attorney, the courts are left without a voice at sentencing. This court is authorized to remedy that exclusion.

In Walker v. Bentley, 678 So. 2d 1265 (Fla. 1996), this Court nullified legislation that took away the circuit court's power to punish indirect criminal contempt involving domestic violence injunctions. In language which applies here the court said that any legislation which "purports to do away with the inherent power of contempt directly affects a separate and distinct function of the judicial branch, and, as such, violates the separation of powers doctrine. . . ." Id. at 1267.

Sentencing, like contempt, is a "separate and district function of the judicial branch" and should be accorded the same protection.

Authority to perform judicial functions cannot be delegated. In re Alkire's Estate, 198 So. 475, 482, 144 Fla. 606, 623 (1940). More specifically, the legislature has no authority to delegate to the executive branch an inherent judicial power. Accord, Gough v. State ex rel. Sauls, 55 So. 2d 111, 116 (Fla. 1951) (The legislature was without authority to confer on the Avon Park City Council the judicial power to determine the legality or validity of votes cast in a municipal election).

Applying that principle here, as construed in Woods, the Act wrongly assigns to the state attorney the sole authority to make factual findings regarding exemptions which thereafter deprive a court of sentencing discretion. Stated differently, the legislature exceeded its authority by giving the executive branch exclusive control of decisions inherent in the judicial branch.

According to Woods, the Act limits the trial court to a ministerial determination whether a qualifying substantive law has been violated (after trial or plea) and whether the offense was committed within 3 years of release from a state correctional institution. Beyond that, the Act is said to bind the court to the choice made by the state attorney. While the legislature could have imposed a mandatory

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