## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEONARD MCKINNEY,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC00-519

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This analogy is not particularly sound. The prior conduct in the various cases cited in <u>Plain</u> are prior convictions, which is prior criminal behavior which are subject to ex post facto challenges. By contrast, the conduct here is the wholly innocent conduct of being released from prison which is not subject to ex post facto challenges. The better approach is to acknowledge that if the last act that gives rise to criminal liability occurs after the effective date of the statute, then the statute is simply not being applied retroactively. <u>United States v. Newman</u>, 144 F.3d 531, 538 (7th Cir. 1998)(defining retroactive application as "applies to <u>criminal</u> conduct occurring before its enactment").

releasee reoffender statute clearly applies to prisoners released prior to its effective date.

The Fourth District also discussed the notice provision contained in § 944.705(6), Fla. Stat. (1997), which requires individuals released from prison to receive actual, personal notice that they were subject to prison releasee reoffender sanctions but also provides that a prisoner who did not receive the written notice is still subject to prison releasee reoffender sanctions. The Young Court noted that this notice statute results in the "inescapable conclusions" that the prison releasee reoffender statute was intended to apply to both those prisoners released prior to its enactment and to those prisoners released after its enactment.

In <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 24 FLA. L. WEEKLY D2356 (Fla. 3d DCA October 13, 1999), the Third District held that the relevant date for *ex post facto* analysis is the date of the offense not the date the defendant was released from prison. Gonzales contended that the prison releasee reoffender was an *ex post facto* law because he had been released from prison prior to effective date of the statute. The Third District characterized this claim as "misplaced" and explained that the relevant date is the date of the crime. Because Gonzales committed his crime after the effective date of the statute, the statute applies to him and there is *no ex post facto* violation.

In <u>State v. Chamberlain</u>, 24 FLA. L. WEEKLY D2514 (Fla. 2d DCA November 3, 1999), the Second District held that the relevant

date for ex post facto analysis is the date of the offense not the date the defendant was released from prison. Chamberlain argued the prison releasee reoffender statute did not apply to him because he was release from prison prior to the effective date of the statute. The Second District reasoned that the date of release from prison is not the determinative date. The Court concluded that Chamberlain committed his new offenses after the May 30, 1997 effective date of the Act, and therefore, the Act may be applied to him. See Gray v. State, 742 So.2d 805 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)(agreeing with the Fourth District's analysis); Grant v. State, 745 So. 2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)(holding that the prison releasee reoffender statute does not violate the expost facto clause).

In <u>Chambers v. State</u>, No. 1D99-1928, (Fla. 1st DCA February 11, 2000), the First District held that application of the statute to crimes occurring after its effective date do not violate ex post facto principles. The Chambers Court explained that application of the act would violate ex post facto principles if the "qualifying events" occurred before the act became effective; however, the "qualifying events" for purposes of the prison releasee reoffender statute is the commission of a new offense, not the date the defendant was released from prison.

The Fourth District has found that the application of the prison releasee reoffender statute to those defendants who committed the <u>crime</u> prior to the statute's effective date

violates the ex post facto clause. In Arnold v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1834 (Fla 4th DCA August 4, 1999), the Fourth District held that an prison releasee reoffender sentence was an improper ex post facto application when applied to offenses committed prior to the statute's effective date. Arnold committed the crimes on April 1, 1997, prior to the statute's effective date of May 30, 1997. Quoting Britt v. Chiles, 704 So. 2d 1046, 1047 (Fla. 1997), the Fourth District noted: "To fall within the ex post facto prohibition, a law must be retrospective -- that is 'it must apply to events occurring before its enactment' -- and it 'must disadvantage the offender affected by it' by altering the definition of criminal conduct or increasing the punishment for the crime." The Arnold Court noted their prior holdings in Plain v. State, 720 So.2d 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), review denied, 727 So. 2d 909 (Fla. 1999) and Young v. State, 719 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), review denied, 727 So. 2d 915 (Fla. 1999) that the statute did not amount to an unconstitutional ex post facto law as applied to a defendant who had been released from prison prior to the Act, but who committed a crime after its effective date. (emphasis in original). But the Court noted that unlike Plain and Young, the statute was being applied retrospectively to Arnold. Arnold was convicted for crimes committed on April 1, 1997, prior to the Act's May 30, 1997 effective date. Thus, the statute violated the ex post facto clause as applied to him. The court remanded for imposition of a guidelines sentence. See also Williams v. State, 743 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)(concluding that application of the prison releasee reoffender statute to Williams was a violation of the ex post facto clause because the "qualifying events" for purposes of the statute is the date he committed his new offenses which occurred before the Act became effective but affirming prison releasee reoffender sentence in a third case because Williams committed the offenses in that case after the effective date of the Act).

Petitioner next argues that he did not receive actual, personal notice of the enactment of the prison releasee reoffender statute.

The State respectfully disagrees. Petitioner is not entitled to individualized notice; statutory notice is sufficient.

The release orientation program statute, § 944.705(6), Florida Statutes (1999), provides:

- (a) The department shall notify every inmate, in no less than 18-point type in the inmate's release documents, that the inmate may be sentenced pursuant to s. 775.082(9) if the inmate commits any felony offense described in s. 775.082(9) within 3 years after the inmate's release. This notice must be prefaced by the word "WARNING" in boldfaced type.
- (b) Nothing in this section precludes the sentencing of a person pursuant to s. 775.082(9), nor shall evidence that the department failed to provide this notice prohibit a person from being sentenced pursuant to s. 775.082(9). The state shall not be required to demonstrate that a person received any notice from the department in order for the court to impose a sentence pursuant to s. 775.082(9).

While petitioner may have lacked actual, personal notice, Petitioner had statutory notice of the prison releasee reoffender statute before he committed his last offense. State v. Beasley, 580 So.2d 139, 142 (Fla. 1991)(noting that "publication in the Laws of Florida or the Florida Statutes gives all citizens constructive notice of the consequences of their actions.").

In City of West Covina v. Perkins, 525 U.S. 234, 119 S.Ct. 678, 681, 142 L.Ed.2d 636 (1999), the United States Supreme Court held that due process did not require individual notice; rather, statutory notice was sufficient. The police searched Perkins' home and seized certain property. Perkins' home was searched during a criminal investigation of a former boarder suspected of murder. Perkins claimed that the city's notice of the procedure for retrieving their property seized during the search was inadequate. The police left a form specifying the fact of the search, its date, the searching agency, the warrant's date, the issuing judge, the mane of a person who could be contacted for information and an itemized list of the property seized. The Supreme Court reasoned that due process does not require notice of state law remedies which are established by published, generally available state statutes. The Court stated that once the owner is informed that his property has been seized, he can turn to these public sources to learn about the remedial procedures. The City is not required <u>Id.</u>, citing <u>Reetz v.</u> to provide any additional notice. <u>Michigan</u>, 188 U.S. 505, 509, 23 S.Ct. 390, 47 L.Ed. 563 (1903) (holding that no special notice is required; rather, the statute is itself sufficient notice); Atkins v. Parker, 472 U.S. 115, 131, 105 S.Ct. 2520, 86 L.Ed.2d 81 (1985)(noting that the "entire structure of our democratic government rests on the premise that the individual citizen is capable of informing himself about the particular policies that affect his destiny").

In <u>Young v. State</u>, 719 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), the Fourth District observed that although this statute requires the Department of Corrections to give notice to every inmate of the provisions of the prison releasee reoffender statute, the statute also provides that the trial court can impose an enhanced sentence under the Act regardless of whether a defendant has received such notice. <u>Id</u>. at 1011. Thus, neither the statute nor due process require that Petitioner be given actual notice of the prison releasee reoffender statute.

In <u>Rollinson v. State</u>, 743 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the Fourth District held that constructive notice was all that was required. Because Rollinson committed the crimes after the effective date of the statute, he had constructive notice of the statute's enhanced sentencing provisions. One is charged with knowledge of all the Florida Statutes. Every defendant is presumed to know the law and has actual knowledge of his own criminal history, there is no possible claim of lack of notice.

# **ISSUE II**

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO EXERCISE ITS "DISCRETION" TO DECLINE TO SENTENCE PETITIONER AS A PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER? (Restated)

Petitioner argues that the trial court failed to exercise its discretion to decline to sentence petitioner as a prison releasee reoffender. The State respectfully disagrees. The trial court has no discretion. Petitioner's reliance on <u>State v. Cotton</u>, 728 So.2d 251 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), review granted, No. 94,996 (Fla. June 11, 1999), is seriously misplaced. <u>Cotton has been superseded by a clarifying amendment to the statute as discussed above</u>.

### ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY NOT AWARDING PETITIONER CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED? (Restated)

Petitioner asserts the trial court improperly denied him time for time served on count III. The State respectfully disagrees. First, this Court should hold that it has no jurisdiction over this "extra" issue. Moreover, this Court should affirm because the record does not show an entitlement to relief on its face nor does it identify the court records which demonstrate that he is entitled to more jail time credit than he actually received.

# <u>Jurisdiction</u>

This Court should hold that it has no jurisdiction to consider this "extra" issue. The First District did not certify this issue to this Court nor is the decision on this issue in direct or express conflict with any other district court's decision. The State is aware of numerous case that hold that once the Florida Supreme Court accepts jurisdiction to answer the certified question, the Florida Supreme Court may review the entire record for error. Ocean Trail Unit Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Mead, 650 So.2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1994)(explaining that having accepted jurisdiction to answer the certified question, the Florida Supreme Court may review the entire record for error); Savoie v. State, 422 So.2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982); Tyus v. Apalachicola Northern R.R., 130 So.2d 580 (Fla. 1961); Lawrence v. Florida E. Coast Ry., 346 So.2d 1012, 1014 n.2 (Fla.1977); Bould v.

Touchette, 349 So.2d 1181, 1183 (Fla.1977)(stating that "[i]f conflict appears, and this Court acquires jurisdiction, we then proceed to consider the entire cause on the merits"). The State is also aware that this Court routinely declines to address issues which are not central to the resolution of the issue on which jurisdiction is based. State v. Thompson, 24 Fla. L. Weekly S224, n.7(Fla. 1999)(stating "[w]e decline to address the other issue raised by Thompson since it was not the basis for our review"); Scoggins v. State, 726 So.2d 762, n.7 (Fla. 1999)(stating: "[w]e decline to address Scoggins' second issue as it is beyond the scope of the conflict issue); State v. O'Neal, 724 So.2d 1187, n.1 (Fla. 1999)(stating: "[w]e decline to address the other issue raised by O'Neal since it was not the basis for our review."). Despite this restraint, this Court continues to be burdened with reviewing and the State continues to be burdened with briefing issues which have been definitely resolved in the district court. Accordingly, the State urges this Court to clarify its case law and limit this doctrine to threshold or preliminary questions directly related to the certified question.

This Court should hold that issues unrelated to the issue upon which jurisdiction is based should not be raised and will not be addressed. Only issues that would cause the issues upon which jurisdiction is based to be erroneously decided should be addressed by this Court. For example, in <u>Hall v. State</u>, No. SC91122, n.2 (Fla. January 20, 2000), this Court decided the

conflict issue by resolution of a preliminary question because the preliminary question controlled "the final decision in this case". The Fifth District had interpreted a statute to allow an appellate court to "direct" the Department of Corrections to sanction an inmate for frivolous litigation; whereas, the Second District had interpreted the same statute to limit an appellate court to "recommending" that the inmate be sanctioned to the Department. This Court explained that to correctly determine this conflict, it was first necessary to determine if the statute was limited to civil suits. Such a determination was central to a correct interpretation of the statute and neither district court had addressed this critical, threshold matter. This Court then held, that contrary to either district court's reasoning, the statute did not authorize an appellate court to either direct or recommend sanctions because the statute did not apply to collateral criminal proceedings.

This Court, in <u>Hall</u>, properly applied this doctrine. This Court was faced with a conflict issue in which both district court had incorrectly applied a civil statute to criminal cases. Neither district was correct regarding the proper interpretation and application of the statute. To correctly interpret the statute, this Court had to address the threshold question of whether the statute applied to criminal proceedings at all. This is a proper use of the doctrine and highlights that the doctrine is necessary in certain cases. However, the doctrine needs to be limited to cases where not addressing the

preliminary issue would cause the issue upon which jurisdiction is based to be erroneously decided. Here, assuming this Court slips into an error correcting mode and reverses the conviction based on the prohibition on consultation, there will be a retrial. However, if petitioner is convicted again, he will to sentenced to the same mandatory sentence as before. Thus, conducting a second appellate review of the conviction will not moot the sentencing issue in this case. Addressing this issue is not necessary to the correct resolution of the separation of powers challenge to the prison releasee reoffender statute and should not be undertaken by this Court.

Moreover, limiting this doctrine in this manner would bring the case law into full accord with the 1980 constitutional amendment. Article V,  $\S$  3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The current doctrine improperly allows this Court to reach an issue on which there is no conflict or certified question and is not necessarily decided to correctly answer the certified question.

Furthermore, the doctrine, as it currently exists, encourages an appellant to relitigate every issue that was raised in the district court in this Court just as this appellant is doing. This undermines judicial efficiency. In Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co., 128 So.2d 594, 596 (Fla.1961), Justice Drew explained the rationale of this doctrine:

Piecemeal determination of a cause by our appellate court should be avoided and when a case is properly lodged here there is no reason why it should not then be terminated here.... "[m]oreover, the efficient and speedy administration of justice is ... promoted" by doing so.

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